
102 Revista de Cultura • 39 • 2011

HISTORIOGRAFIA

102102102 ReReRevivivistststa a a dedede CCCululultututurarara ••• 333999 ••• 202020111111

HIHIHISTSTSTORORORIOIOIOGRGRGRAFAFAFIAIAIA

Le
tt

er
 to

 K
in

g 
M

an
ue

l o
f P

or
tu

ga
l b

y 
th

e 
re

ge
nt

s 
of

 th
e 

Su
lta

na
te

 o
f T

er
na

te
, o

n 
be

ha
lf 

of
 th

e 
ei

gh
t y

ea
rs

 o
ld

 S
ul

ta
n 

A
bu

 H
ay

at
. W

ri
tt

en
 b

ef
or

e 
8 

N
ov

em
be

r 
15

21
, i

t i
s 

th
e 

ea
rl

y 
M

al
ay

 
m

an
us

cr
ip

t e
ve

r 
kn

ow
n.

 I
t d

es
cr

ib
es

 th
e 

de
at

hs
 o

f t
he

 S
ul

ta
n 

B
ay

an
 S

ir
ru

lla
h 

of
 T

er
na

te
 a

nd
 F

ra
nc

is
co

 S
er

rã
o.

 
C

ou
rt

es
y 

A
rq

ui
vo

 N
ac

io
na

l d
a 

T
or

re
 d

o 
T

om
bo

, L
is

bo
n;

 G
av

et
as

, 1
5,

 m
ç.

 1
6,

 n
.º

 3
8.



1032011 • 39 • Review of Culture

HISTORIOGRAPHY

A Man in the Shadow of Magellan
Francisco Serrão, the First European 

in the Maluku Islands (1511-1521)

Manuel Lobato*

* Titular Researcher at the Portuguese Institute for Tropical Research (IICT) since 
2004, a position acquired with a thesis on Comércio, Confl ito e Religião. Portugueses 
e Espanhóis nas Ilhas Molucas de 1512 a 1618; vice-director of the IICT’s Center 
of History (HIST) since 2008; Lecturer at the Institute of Oriental Studies of the 
Catholic University of Portugal (Lisbon). Author of four books and more than fi fty 
papers on the history of the Portuguese presence in Mozambique and the Eastern 
African Coast, India and the Malay-Indonesian Archipelago during the Early 
Modern Age. 

Investigador Auxiliar com nomeação defi nitiva do Instituto de Investigação Científi ca 
Tropical desde 2004, posição que alcançou com a tese Comércio, Confl ito e Religião. 
Portugueses e Espanhóis nas Ilhas Molucas de 1512 a 1618; vice-director 
do seu Centro de História desde 2008. Lecciona no Instituto de Estudos Orientais 
da Universidade Católica Portuguesa, Lisboa. Publicou quatro livros e mais 
de cinquenta artigos sobre a história da presença portuguesa em Moçambique, Índia 
e arquipélago malaio-indonésio nos primórdios da Idade Moderna. 

INTRODUCTION

Portuguese and Spanish sources contain abundant 
material dealing with the activities of Francisco Serrão, 
the first Portuguese who settled in the islands of 
Maluku, in the eastern part of today’s Indonesia. Such 
materials often contain inconsistent information and 
intentionally distorted historical data on the profi le and 
the deeds of this fi gure. Refl ecting competition among 
the Iberian nations for the control of the sources of 
Indonesian spices during the early decades of the 16th 
century, such information must be carefully analysed 
and submitted to strict scrutiny.

Th e materials for this early period came mostly 
from chronicles and archival records, some of them 
included in the so called ‘Maluku Process’ (Questão 
das Molucas), which contains statements produced 
from the 1520s onwards to be used by Portuguese and 
Spanish delegates in the diplomatic dispute for the 
ownership of the Spice Islands. For this reason, the 

information contained in such testimonies, written 
with the purpose of taking eventual advantage from 
their content, should not be unconditionally trusted 
as other fi rst-hand documents.1

Although we are familiar with many aspects of 
the action and interference of Francisco Serrão on Asian 
scenarios, no information is available about his life prior 
to his departure from Portugal to India. Moreover, the 
biographical material relating to his days in Asia and 
particularly in the Maluku islands, where he spent the 
last few years of his life, is also scanty. For these reasons, 
a biographical essay on this important fi gure, who 
initiated the Portuguese presence in Eastern Indonesia 
and whose acts decisively influenced subsequent 
developments, has been awaited for many years.2 We 
took that challenge with the present text, although we 
are aware that only a few elements of his life and his 
accomplishments can be established beyond any doubt.

Th is paper intends also to review the earliest 
Portuguese expeditions from Melaka to the Maluku 
islands. Instead of trying to develop this theme 
according to the usual approach to the historiography 
of ‘Discoveries’, it aims to pay attention to the study of 
sailing, trade and, especially, to the early 16th century 
political history in the region, to which the activities 
of Francisco Serrão are closely related.

THE ANTÓNIO DE ABREU FLEET

The oldest oral traditions registered by the 
Portuguese, the Spaniards and the Dutch, confi rm the 
Chinese sources that attest to the Chinese priority in 



104 Revista de Cultura • 39 • 2011

MANUEL LOBATO

HISTORIOGRAFIA

regularly visiting the Maluku archipelago, although 
some of these traditions also claimed the Javanese to be 
the earliest foreign traders to visit the Spice Islands. It 
is possible that, after the Chinese offi  cially drew back 
from the Southeast Asian seas, by the 1430s, the oral 
tradition was slightly adjusted with the purpose of 
sanctioning the overwhelming Javanese infl uence in 
Maluku dating back from the 13th century onwards. It 
created a new scenario in which the Javanese appear as 
the oldest partners of the Malukans, fi nally superseded 
by the Malay merchants from Melaka, who, from the 
mid-15th century, were considered to be newcomers.

After the Malay merchants overcame all foreign 
competitors, in the 15th century, they became the 
preferential partners of the kings of the Maluku Islands. 
Th e fast ‘take over’ operated by the Malay merchants in 
close articulation with Muslim traders from the most 
important port-cities in the Javanese pasisir, found 
a justifi cation in the fact that the Indian Ocean had 
become a ‘Muslim lake’ since the Chinese withdrew 
from these regions at the very moment when the early 
stage of Islamisation on Java was just beginning. From 
the outset, Malay merchants from Melaka attracted 
the friendship and the alliance of the King of Ternate, 
who was the most powerful ruler in Maluku and with 
whom they would stand in good terms until 1512, 
when the Portuguese fi nally made up their appearance 
in Maluku.

As an objective to be fulfi lled in the scope of the 
Portuguese maritime and commercial expansion in East 
Asia, the Maluku Islands are believed to be mentioned 
for the fi rst time in 1508, in an ordinance given by King 
Manuel to Diogo Lopes de Sequeira. In this ordinance, 
the monarch ordered Sequeira to build up padrões, 
or stone columns, ‘in the islands where cloves come 
from’, and to calculate their latitude and the maritime 
distances separating them from the neighbour islands 
and lands.3

But it was only by 1511, after Melaka had been 
seized by Afonso de Albuquerque, that the Portuguese 
were fully aware of the fact that some of the most 
valuable and renowned spices currently used in Asia 
and in Europe came from a few islands lying on 
the edge of the Malay-Austronesian world. Cloves 
only grew in Maluku, while nutmeg and mace were 
exclusively produced in the Banda islands. Similarly, 
white sandalwood only grew in Timor and, to a lesser 
extent, in some neighbouring islands.

Established in Melaka, the Portuguese 
concentrated their eff orts on setting up trade relations 
with the Maluku and Banda archipelagos. Afonso de 
Albuquerque being in Melaka, in November 1511, a 
few months after he captured the city from the sultan 
Mahmud Syah, dispatched a three-vessel fleet to 
Maluku.4 António de Abreu, the chief-commander, 
sailed onboard the Santa Catarina, piloted by Luís 
Botim.5 Th e captaincy of the Sabaia, an Indian vessel 
seized by Afonso de Albuquerque during the capture of 
Goa, was given to Francisco Serrão, who was also the 
fl eet’s lieutenant,6 the pilot being Gonçalo de Oliveira.7 
Th e accountant (feitor) of the fl eet was João Freire, and 
Diogo Borges its clerk (escrivão).8

Afonso de Albuquerque also appointed Simão 
Afonso Bisagudo to be captain of the Latin caravel, 
a vessel with a round-hull that he ordered to be 
constructed in Melaka especially for this expedition. 
Th e pilot was the famous Francisco Rodrigues, a young 
cartographer and the author of the book known by 
his name—Livro de Francisco Rodrigues—attached to 
the famous Suma Oriental, written by Tomé Pires in 
1513.9

Francisco Rodrigues left us the earliest European 
maps of the Indonesian archipelago. In those maps 
he erased the vestiges of Ptolomy’s tradition still 
remaining in European cartography concerning 
Southeast Asia. Based upon personal observations that 
he made during the voyage and on the examination of 
Asian pilots’ maps—probably from Malay or Javanese 
origin—Francisco Rodrigues draw the fi rst reliable 
representation of Southeast Asia accomplished by 
Europeans. His access to locally made cartography 
explains why the Maluku archipelago and Timor Island 
are outlined in his maps despite the fact that he did 
not visit any of those archipelagos. With a few extra 
additions, Rodrigues’ cartography reproduced maps 
used by Javanese and Malay pilots.10

The importance of the work of Francisco 
Rodrigues lies also on 68 sketches and landscape 
drawings from several islands taken from aboard 
the Latin caravel on the return journey of this fi rst 
Portuguese exploration to the Eastern Archipelago 
and the Banda islands. Th is curious set of drawings, 
displaying mainly the Lesser Sunda Islands and the 
Malay Archipelago maps, constitutes precisely the 
book entitled Livro de Francisco Rodrigues from c. 
1513.
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One hundred-and-eighty Portuguese joined this 
fl eet along with 60 slaves to operate the water-pumps, 
as both older ships were in a fairly bad condition. To 
overcome these drawbacks, special attention was paid 
to the choice of spare materials and trading articles—
mostly cloth—to be offered to the authorities or 
exchanged for spices. Th e fl eet took the trading route 
along the northern coast of Java. Despite the use of 
experienced Malay pilots, the journey proved to be 
diffi  cult and too long for old ships, preventing the 
Portuguese from sailing beyond the Banda islands. 
Only two ships and 80 men returned to Melaka one 
year after their departure, in December 1512, without 
having reached Ternate or Tidore, the main islands in 
the Northern Maluku archipelago where cloves were 
produced.11

Francisco Serrão and some fourteen companions 
were shipwrecked twice. After having sunk in Ambon, 
they suff ered a second wreck on their way back to 
Melaka, in the shallows near Nusa Pinju or ‘Turtle 
Island’, which the Portuguese sources called baixos de 

Lucupino or Lucepinho. Part of the cargo of spices was 
also recovered and later on sent to Java where it was 
reshipped to Melaka.1

In Nusa Pinju, warned by the Malay sailors who 
travelled with them, the survivors defeated a group of 
orang selat (or ‘people from the straits’) and Bajao (‘sea 
nomads’) pirates, seizing their vessels and sailing to 
Nusa Telu,12 in Ceram, from where they later on moved 
to Hitu, in Ambon.13

Th e chronicler Safara Rijali, imam of Hitu and 
author of the Hikayat Tanah Hitu (‘Chronicle of the 
Lands of Hitu’, c. 1646),14 registered the arrival of 
Serrão and his companions to Hitu, as it had been 
recorded in the memory of its inhabitants and also 
circulated among them by oral tradition:

One day the people of Nusatelo encountered a 
boat full of human creatures, the like of whom 
they had never seen before. Th eir bodies were 
white and their eyes resembled cats’ eyes. Th ey 
were asked questions, but they did not speak the 
local language...15

Luís Filipe F. R. Th omaz, ‘Th e image of the Archipelago in Portuguese cartography of the 16th and early 17th centuries’, Archipel, 49, Paris, 1995, pp. 79-124, Plate III: 
‘Assemblage of Four Sketches by Francisco Rodrigues’s Rutter of theEast (c. 1513)’. Bibliothèque de la Chambre des Députés, Paris; P. M. C., I, 35.
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Whatever the meaning that one should attribute to this 
fact in the context of today’s non-Asian historiography, 
it implies that there is no longer a place to speak about 
the ‘discovery’ of Maluku. From the East African 
coast, the Portuguese simply followed the sea routes 
used by Muslim sailors, as they continued eastwards 
of Melaka. Th us, this discussion merely addresses the 
European priority in the Spice Islands. In this respect, 
historical criticism has established that the account 
by the Italian traveller Ludovico di Varthema on his 
alleged journey to Banda and Maluku Islands only 
contains second-hand information collected, probably, 
in the Indian Malabar coast, in the early years of the 
16th century. So, contrary to what he states, Varthema 
is not an accredited witness, and, accordingly, one can 
safely discard the priority of this Italian traveller and 
his account of the Spice Islands.16

Due to the Varthema’s report, which, translated 
into several languages, circulated throughout Europe, 
the Portuguese priority in Maluku was ripe for 
discussion from the start, though the reports of the 
Italian travellers, who, like Varthema, travelled to South 
and Southeast Asia, brought no political consequences. 
However, some authors, while ascribing the European 
priority in Maluku to Francisco Serrão, persisted until 
today in darkening his role, attributing it to fate. Such is 
the case of the Spanish historian Cuesta Domingo, who 
states that ‘Portugal, thus, because of an involuntary 
blow of good luck had reached the Islands of Spices’ 
by way of a ‘shipwrecked survival’ named Francisco 
Serrão.17 It is true that Serrão was shipwrecked in a 
route later on considered quite dangerous. One should 
not assume, however, that the Portuguese were merely 
fortunate in having reached the Maluku islands. 
Th is argument was already developed by the Spanish 
negotiators at the Badajoz-Elvas summit during the 
years 1524 to 1529, in order to diplomatically obtain 
the ‘control’ over the Maluku Islands. Unlike Magellan, 
who foresaw the existence of a passage linking the 
Atlantic and the Pacifi c oceans, which proved to be 
a fortunate guess, the Portuguese expedition under 
the command of António de Abreu, along with the 
lieutenant Serrão, left Melaka to Maluku guided by 
Malay pilots, who were experts on that particular 
route, owned maps displaying distances and directions 
from one anchor to the next and who were familiar 
with the monsoon calendar, and were thus able to sail 
throughout the Indonesian archipelago.

Th e instructions to António de Abreu,18 that 
should be part of his lost ordinance, mentioned that 
Afonso de Albuquerque assigned to him the mission 
of searching out the path to the Spice Islands. Th e 
expedition fully accomplished that mission, as the 
chronicler Gabriel Rebelo, a royal-accountant in 
Ternate, clearly noticed in a chronicle on Maluku he 
wrote during the 1560s, which is preserved in two 
distinct versions.19 A slightly diff erent opinion is held 
by the chronicler Fernão Lopes de Castanheda20 and, 
in his wake, almost all scholars usually underline the 
fact that none of the vessels of Abreu’s fl eet reached 
Maluku due to successive setbacks and shipwrecks. 
In his testimony to the ‘Maluku Process’, the already-
mentioned judicial dispute between the Portuguese 
and the Spanish crowns for the ownership of those 
islands, Diogo Brandão clearly states that, being old 
and damaged, the remaining ships were not in a 
condition to proceed to the Northern Maluku for fear 
that they could not accomplish the homeward voyage 
to Melaka.21

Th e argument that the Serrão’s shipwreck was 
the main reason for the Portuguese having not reached 
Northern Maluku, sustained by several authors,22 does 
not therefore fi nd evidence supporting it. Although it 
is an unquestionable fact that none of the vessels of 
the fl eet reached the Northern Spice Islands, where 
cloves were produced, one can also oppose several 
arguments to the thesis of the failure of the expedition: 
(i) shipwrecks did not prevented further navigation, 
since the second wreck of Serrão occurred in his way 
back to Melaka; (ii) in a greater sense, the concept of 
Maluku, and especially the one of ‘Spice Islands’, also 
included the Banda and Ambon islands, where the fl eet 
anchored; (iii) the monsoon calendar to sail from Banda 
or Ambon archipelagos towards the Northern Maluku 
islands usually delayed the homeward journey to 
Melaka another entire year; (iv) for that reason and also 
because in the Banda islands they could easily purchase 
spices locally produced—mace and nutmeg—as well as 
cloves from Northern Maluku, brought there in large 
quantities, the ships from Melaka had no need to sail 
beyond those islands; they usually awaited there for 
the monsoon reversal to sail homeward,23 a maritime 
practice that the Portuguese maintained throughout 
the 16th century.

Finally, although the ordinance given to António 
de Abreu by Afonso de Albuquerque is lost,24 this 
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Francisco Rodrigues’ voyage of Discovery to the Spice Islands, from Armando Cortesão, Summa Oriental de Tomé Pires, I, London: Hakluyt Society, Plate VI, reprinted in Esparsos, 
III. Coimbra: Acta Universitatis Conimbrigensis, 1975, p. 353.

governor of the Estado da Índia, in a letter to King 
Manuel, wrote that the purpose of the mission was 
to reach Banda and Ambon, which names his letter 
registered as well as a vague reference to the ‘clove 
islands’ (ilhas do cravo).25

Several instructions for this expedition have been 
preserved. Th ey show that the Portuguese considered 
it a voyage of discovery. Barros stated that António de 
Abreu had erected padrões in Ambon and in the Javanese 
ports where he anchored during his journey to Maluku, 
according to the Portuguese practice of marking new 
lands for the purpose of symbolically taking ownership 
at the time of the supposed ‘discovery’.26 Th e main 
instructions concerned, however, the good relations that 
should be developed with the natives, the authorities of 
the seaports and the crews of the ships found in their 
pathway. Th e ordinance expressly prohibited their 
capture and imposed respect for local customs and 
the payment of goods at a fair price, as well as polite 
dealings with the local authorities, to whom Abreu 
should off er clothes that he carried onboard for that 
purpose.27

There is another important aspect not yet 
mentioned. Nakoda Ismail—a Chinese merchant born 
in Melaka,28 where he lived with his family and was 
considered to be an ‘honourable man’29, ‘that use to sail 
to Maluku’30—played the role of a herald. According to 
Barros,31 Afonso de Albuquerque sent him from Melaka 
to Maluku as captain and master of a junk of which he 
was also the owner,32 ‘two or three days’ before the fl eet 
of António de Abreu.33

His mission was to make the necessary 
arrangements for a friendly welcome to the Abreu’s 
fl eet in Maluku and throughout the Java Sea. We 
can presume that the nakoda Ismail played a part 
in the warm reception that the Sultan of Ternate 
dispensed to Francisco Serrão. Later events showed 
that his infl uence would be, presumably, focused in 
preparing a friendly agreement between both men. On 
returning to Melaka, the nakoda Ismail travelled in the 
company of a junk belonging to the Sultan of Ternate, 
which carried out letters to Afonso de Albuquerque. 
In Ternate, Serrão should also load some cloves in 
the nakoda Ismail’s junk,34 on which also embarked 
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Pero Fernandes and the pilot Gonçalo de Oliveira,35 
survivors with Serrão from the second shipwreck off  
the Nusa Pinju shallows. Th ese men arrived in Melaka 
in 1513, carrying letters from the Sultan of Ternate, 
Abu Lais, to the King of Portugal,36 and from Francisco 
Serrão to his friend Ferdinand Magellan who had 
returned to Portugal in 1512.

For the moment, we should leave Magellan and 
focus on his informant in Maluku, Francisco Serrão, 
to discover the events in which he was involved after 
he suff ered the second shipwreck off  the Nusa Pinju 
shallows.

FRANCISCO SERRÃO IN HITU 
AND TERNATE

Francisco Serrão and some ten companions who 
were shipwrecked off  Nusa Pinju (the ‘Turtle Island’), 
moved to Nusa Telu, on the island of Ceram, where 
they gave military assistance to the local people in 
the confl ict with their neighbours from Veranula.37 
Later on, the survivors found a shelter in Hitu, in 
the Ambon Island, where they were welcomed by the 
local ‘council of the four’ (empat perdana). Guided to 
Hitu, Serrão and his companions affi  rmed before the 
‘council’ their provenance from Portugal and their 
purpose for trading in spices. According to Indonesian 
historian Paramita Abdurachman, Serrão would then 
grant the title of ‘captain’ (capitão) to the empat perdana 
spokesman, Jamilu, who he erroneously took for a king, 
though he was, in fact, the founder of the Hituese 
state. Abdurachman believes that this act could be the 
reason for the Malay-Ambonese title of kapitan being 
in use in the region until the late 19th century.38 Th e 
Portuguese sources, however, ignore this fact, unlike the 
aforementioned local chronicle, Hikayat Tanah Hitu, 
written by Ridjali, grandson of Jamilu. Although it is 
probably a written version from an earlier oral tradition 
that suff ered successive changes in its transmission, 
it conserved the memory of this fi rst moment in the 
Hituese-Portuguese relations. But it is more likely to 
believe that the title of kapitan is derived from the 
appropriation by the natives of the title used by Serrão 
to present himself—captain of the King of Portugal—
by which the Portuguese survivors under his command 
certainly used to address him.

Th e Sultan of Ternate, Abu Hayat, in a letter 
to the King of Portugal, Manuel I, written in Malay 

language and Arabic characters, says that his father, 
Bayan Sirrulah (Abu Lais), sought for Serrão at Hitu, 
an area belonging to his realm.39 António Galvão,40 
possibly based on information gathered on site, says 
that the Sultan of Ternate, knowing that nine fi rangi 
were to be found at Hitu, sent his brother, cachil 
Culiba, and nine korakora, to bring them to Ternate. 
Al Mansur, raja of Tidore, did the same, but the seven 
korakora he sent to Hitu arrived after the Portuguese 
had already left in the company of the emissaries of 
the Sultan of Ternate.

Hosting Francisco Serrão and his companions in 
Ternate, the sultan Bayan Sirrullah (Abu Lais) showed 
himself greatly pleased,41 since he believed that an 
ancient prophecy circulating in Maluku, as João de 
Barros reported it, was about to become true during his 
lifetime, ‘according to which’, Barros says, ‘some men, 
dressed in iron, would arrive and dominate the natives. 
Th e Sultan of Ternate would be helped by them and he 
would control the entire archipelago.’42

FRANCISCO SERRÃO AND THE EARLY 
PORTUGUESE VOYAGES TO MALUKU

Th e second fl eet sent to Maluku by the captain of 
Melaka, Rui de Brito Patalim (1511-1514), consisting 
of three ships under the command of António de 
Miranda de Azevedo,43 sailed from Melaka to Banda 
on 28 December 1513. In Banda, where he was headed 
to buy some spices, Miranda de Azevedo expected to 
fi nd Francisco Serrão. Th is one, in fact, accompanied by 
some kimalaes from Ternate, sailed to Ambon to meet 
Martim Guedes, captain of the ship Santo André.44 Th e 
sultan of Ternate, who impatiently awaited a permanent 
Portuguese trading post to be established in Ternate 
and counted on Serrão to do it, provided the fl eet with 
cloves.45 All kings and some other traditional leaders 
expected that the Portuguese would build forts on their 
lands, as they stated in letters that the fl eet of Miranda 
de Azevedo brought to Melaka, along with letters from 
Francisco Serrão himself.46

In the meantime, Afonso de Albuquerque sent 
Duarte Coelho from India to Banda to build a trading 
post and to concentrate there the Portuguese trade in 
cloves, mace and nutmeg, that would be sought every 
year by the ships coming from Melaka. His intent 
was not achieved as, once arrived in Melaka, Duarte 
Coelho was sent to China. Th e project of a trading post 
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in Banda, just suitable for the aims of the Portuguese 
trade, was abandoned soon as King Manuel was 
informed of the off erings from the kings of Maluku for 
a Portuguese fortress to be erected on their islands.47

António de Miranda revisited Banda in 1515, 
commanding a fl eet of just two ships, the São Francisco, 
also called Bretão, and a junk belonging to a merchant 
from Melaka, Nina Suryadeva, which was captained by 
Álvaro do Cocho.48 From Banda, Miranda dispatched49 
Jorge Mesurado,50 with an embassy and offerings 
to the Sultan of Ternate, who received him ‘much 
honourably’ and reciprocated by sending an embassy 
to the captain of Melaka.51 Th e ambassador Jorge 
Mesurado has thus been the fi rst Portuguese who led 
a ship up to the Northern Maluku islands. He did 
it in May, then the best time in the monsoon to sail 
from Banda, although he accomplished his mission 
in a local vessel that he bought or leased in Banda to 
carry out his voyage. Anyway, the previous expeditions 
had not gone beyond Banda and Ambon islands, as 
was also emphatically declared by Álvaro do Cocho, 
when he was still unaware of the success of the mission 
committed to Jorge Mesurado. Writing in early 1516, 
Cocho says that Maluku was not then even ‘discovered 
by any Portuguese, except by Francisco Serrão, who 
lives there.’52

Under the command of Tristão de Meneses, a 
third expedition, sent by the Portuguese governor in 
India, Lopo Soares de Albergaria, reached Ternate by 
1519. Meneses’ task was to erect a fortress, possibly 

As an objective to be fulfilled 
in the scope of the Portuguese 
maritime and commercial 
expansion in East Asia, the 
Maluku Islands are believed 
to be mentioned for the first 
time in 1508, in an ordinance 
given by King Manuel to Diogo 
Lopes de Sequeira.

on the island of Makian, whose domain was divided 
between the kings of Ternate and Tidore. Meneses’ 
ordinance also contained instructions to purchase 
cloves in Ternate and to bring back Francisco Serrão 
to Melaka. However, he soon abandoned the idea of 
constructing the fortress, trying to persuade Sultan 
Bayan Sirrullah that Francisco Serrão should be sent 
back to Portugal to reveal, in person, before King 
Manuel, the sultan’s desire that the fort should be build 
on Ternate.53 Th is seems to be a sign that agents of the 
Portuguese Crown wanted Serrão to leave Maluku, as 
discussed further on.

Insisting that the fortress be erected in his realm, 
Sultan Bayan Sirrullah led the governor (capitão) of 
Melaka, Garcia de Sá, to send Garcia Henriques, his 
kinsman, to Ternate.54 In late 1520, however, the 
political scenario totally changed as news of the contract 
(capitulatión) between Ferdinand Magellan and the 
Spanish emperor Charles V reached Melaka. In that 
contract, Magellan intended to ‘discover’ the Spice 
Islands on behalf of the Spanish Crown.55

THE DARK YEARS OF FRANCISCO SERRÃO 
15051511

Francisco Serrão’s action in Maluku assumes the 
most important signifi cance for the early Portuguese 
presence in the archipelago, and for the political life 
of these islands. Besides defending the Portuguese 
interests—in a previous work we considered he acted 
as a Portuguese ‘consul’56—Serrão also exercised 
an enormous influence in the internal politics of 
the archipelago, due to his personal charisma as a 
leading warrior. Th at way, he proved that Afonso de 
Albuquerque made the right choice by appointing 
him to command one of Abreu’s vessels based upon 
his previous experience and as a reward for his deeds 
during the conquest of Melaka.

Information is scarce about the life of Francisco 
Serrão prior to his participation in the fi rst Portuguese 
expedition to Melaka, in 1509, under the command of 
Diogo Lopes de Sequeira. Francisco Serrão was already 
in Asia in 1505 or, according to some authors, he 
arrived that year in the same fl eet in which Ferdinand 
Magellan also travelled from Portugal to India. He was 
probably a young man at the time. Anyway, in 1505, the 
viceroy Francisco de Almeida appointed him to serve at 
Kannur, under the orders of António de Brito.57 Being 
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‘Gente que habita nas ilhas de Maluco; são gintios. Chamam-se Malucos. Destas ilhas vem o cravo’. Portuguese anonymous Codex, mid-16th century (Biblioteca Casanatense, Rome, 
Ms. 1889, folios 132-133). From Luís de Matos (ed.), Imagens do Oriente no Século XVI (Lisboa: IN-CM, 1985).

in Cochin, in 1509, Serrão joined the fl eet of Diogo 
Lopes de Sequeira aboard a vessel carrying horses. Th e 
famous Ferdinand Magellan was also among the 60 
men that boarded it.58 In the way back to Portugal, in 
January 1510, both were wrecked in the shallows of 
Padua, north of the Lakshadweep islands. Th ey lost 
their assets but found a shelter at Cochin, which they 
left to participate in the capture of Goa under the 
command of Afonso de Albuquerque, who, as early as 
April 1510, sent Serrão back to Cochin as captain of a 
caravel on a mission to supply foodstuff s to the forces 
in campaign.59

Francisco Serrão and Ferdinand Magellan were 
therefore companions-in-arms, since they participated 
in the fi rst fl eet that demanded Melaka under the 
command of Diogo Lopes de Sequeira. Magellan and 
the aforementioned Martim Guedes rescued Serrão 
from trouble on two separate occasions, fi rstly, in the 

hasty evacuation of Melaka, in 1509, the second one in 
a naval clash off  the island of Pulo Berhala (Polvoreira), 
in the northern part of the Straits of Malacca.60

THE ACTION OF FRANCISCO SERRÃO 
IN MALUKU

Th e involvement of Serrão in local politics, as 
well as his role as agent of the Portuguese, did not go 
unnoticed by the late scholar A. da Silva Rego, in the 
following terms:

He created a solid friendship to the King of 
Ternate, becoming this way his best consultant, 
his best general, his best friend. Defending the 
interests of Ternate, inside the politics of the 
archipelago, he also took care for those of the king 
of Portugal. He was the best commercial agent 
that Melaka could desire in such an important 
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key position. He was the one who, using ships 
belonging to Ternate, carried to Banda or Ambon 
the precious cloves, thus shortening the voyage 
of ships coming from Melaka.61

Albuquerque, writing in 1515 to King Manuel after he 
received news from Francisco Serrão, says: ‘he was in 
control of the Clove Islands, and ruled the King and 
the whole land.’62 In his aforementioned testimony, 
Bartolomeu Gonçalves defi nes, in a few words, the 
relationship between Serrão and the Sultan of Ternate 
and the infl uence he acquired as his political and 
military advisor:

Francisco Serrão had absolute power to do 
whatever he wanted. And how some places 
revolted against the obedience of the King of 
Maluku, this sent there a fl eet and Francisco 
Serrão as its commander and this one made peace 
and brought the rebels to his obedience; and to 
those who would not obey, the said Francisco 
Serrão destroyed them in such a way that the 
King of Maluku was very happy and satisfi ed 
with the obedience that he gave to the King of 
Portugal.63

We mentioned above the prophecies that circulated in 
Maluku, which originated from the sultan of Ternate 
himself, about the arrival of foreigners, ‘iron men’, 
who supposedly will bring prosperity to the islands. 
Certainly the deeds of Francisco Serrão in Nusa Pinju 
against the pirates contributed to the regard that the 
Sultan Bayan Sirrulah (Abu Lais) immediately nurtured 
for the Portuguese, who managed to save themselves 
from the shipwreck fully equipped with their individual 
weapons which would create an impressive warrior-like 
appearance in the eyes of the Sultan.64

Similarly, the fact that Serrão, calling at Gresik, 
on the Javanese northern coast, had taken—or 
abducted, according to others—a native woman for 
his wife or concubine, may have propitiated for him 
an easier approach to the inner circle of the Ternate’s 
court and to access the Sultan himself, who was also 
married to two Javanese women, one of them counted 
among his most important wives.65 Although there is 
no further information about the Serrão couple, such 
a marriage should have helped Francisco, at least, to 
learn the Malay language, spoken by the merchant 
communities established in Javanese ports along 
the spice route leading to the Eastern Indonesian 
archipelago. In brief, there are reasons to conclude 

that the successful interference of Francisco Serrão in 
Maluku was due both to circumstantial reasons and to 
his personal character.66

Luís de Albuquerque refers to him as a ‘factor’ or 
King’s accountant.67 In fact, although Serrão never had 
been offi  cially appointed to such a position, he acted as 
a representative of the Portuguese Crown in Maluku. 
He spared no eff orts to get quantities of spices in this 
archipelago and, especially, in Banda, where the ships 
from Melaka, some of them equipped at the expense 
of the Portuguese royal treasure, came to carry them. 
In this trade, Serrão acquired prestige and infl uence, 
and also he should have gathered a personal fortune. 
Th e chronicles mention, in this regard, that the Sultan 
gave him full support and also requested him to stay in 
Maluku, a suffi  cient reason for Serrão to refuse to sail 
back to Melaka in the fl eet of António de Miranda de 
Azevedo,68 that reached Banda and Ambon in 1513, 
and thus refused to leave Ternate and being readmitted 
in the Estado da Índia. In fact, Serrão, who remained in 
Northern Maluku until his death in 1521, would no 
longer sail beyond the Central Maluku islands, which 
he sailed to every year to meet the Portuguese coming 
there for spices.69 His infl uence, however, exceeded 
the Maluku world. In addition to the contacts he kept 
with the Portuguese in Melaka, in Portugal and, most 
probably, in Seville, Serrão extended his infl uence 
to Timor island, through a certain Pedro Afonso de 
Lourosa, his agent in Banda—who was sentenced to 
death, in 1522, after having introduced the Spaniards in 
the sandalwood trade of Timor—just as he dispatched 
some Portuguese subordinates to the Philippines in 
search for rice that was lacking in Maluku.70

Francisco Serrão’s loyalty and his faithful service 
to the Portuguese Crown were consistently mentioned 
by the Portuguese sources and there is no evidence 
for insinuations raised up by some Spanish authors. 
However, it should be remembered that Serrão, though 
claiming the role of a strenuous servant of the Crown, 
remained in Maluku on his own account and, most 
signifi cant for our purposes, interfered in local politics 
according to his personal criterion, supporting the 
Sultan of Ternate against his neighbours in the on-going 
dispute. His profi le exhibits some traits in common 
with the lançados, a term that refers to the Portuguese 
mercenaries and adventurers, normally renegades, at 
the service of African or Asian rulers, found from the 
late 15th century in the Upper Guinean Coast and from 
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1510 in diff erent areas bordering the Indian Ocean, 
especially in the Bay of Bengal.71

Serrão, who took part in the early steps of the 
Portuguese in the Malay Archipelago under Diogo 
Lopes de Sequeira, was perfectly aware that the eff orts 
undertaken by the Portuguese Crown were to become 
increasingly focused in spice-producing areas such 
as Maluku. Goa, Hormuz and Melaka had just been 
occupied when Serrão left to Maluku, a reason for 
these islands to be considered as the fi nal result of the 
Portuguese eff orts to overcome the vast Muslim spice- 
trading network. Serrão certainly did not want to miss 
the opportunity to play a major role in the acquisition 
of that fi nal position in the web of the Portuguese 
network in Asia.

Little is known, however, about the relationship 
between Serrão and the Portuguese that every year 
demanded Maluku. Some of them would be mere 
individuals who embarked on a personal basis in junks 
of merchants from Melaka. Others, however, were royal 
agents—captains, factors or accountants—appointed 
by the Crown as their representatives on board of 
vessels in which the royal treasury shared the cargo 
with Asian merchants from Melaka. Obviously, we 
are better informed about these vessels and fl eets sent 
by the governor of Melaka in diplomatic and trading 
missions than on early private enterprises.

Th e fact that some of these missions caused 
troubles in Maluku comes by the hand of the Ternatese 
Sultan Bayan Sirrullah. In a letter to the Portuguese 
governor in India, Lopo Soares de Albergaria, probably 
written in mid-1518 and translated in October of that 
year in Melaka, which the aforementioned Álvaro do 
Cocho carried from Maluku, the Sultan of Ternate 
complains about the conduct of that captain, who, 
he claims, took the faction of Yusuf, raja of Jailolo. 
Th is one also wrote a letter to the same Portuguese 
governor, merely relying on the testimony of Álvaro 
do Cocho, who witnessed serious events, on which 
he advanced no further details. Whatever the nature 
of this dispute, the meaning seems quite clear: the 
Sultan, being the most powerful king in the entire 
Malukan region, with the support of Serrão and his 
companions, tried to impose his hegemony on the 
neighbouring kings, to whom he became involved 
in disputes and skirmishes. Th at is also the meaning 
of a letter that, on the same occasion, Baab Husein 
(Lebechucem), King of Makian, sent to the same 

governor, Lopo Soares de Albergaria, in which he 
regrets to be ‘dispossessed of his entire realm’ by the 
Sultan of Ternate.72 Similarly, after Serrão’s death, the 
new Sultan of Ternate, Abu Hayat, sent a letter to the 
King of Portugal, in which he alludes to the war that 
set his father, Sultan Bayan Sirrullah, against the kings 
of Tidore, Jailolo and Bacan.73

It seems, however, that several agents of the 
Portuguese Crown who visited Maluku in the 1510s, 
consistently received instructions to repatriate Serrão, 
according to the Portuguese authorities’ desire that 
he should leave these islands, in order to dispossess 
him from the control he held over the local aff airs. As 
mentioned above, the ordinance given to Meneses, 
besides containing precise instructions on the purchase 
of cloves in Ternate—its purpose would be, in the 
words of Gaspar Correia, ‘to settle down the cloves 
trading’74—also ordered Meneses to repatriate Francisco 
Serrão to Melaka.75 However, Meneses return to Melaka 
in 1521, without Serrão, but in the company of an 
ambassador, son of the Sultan of Ternate, who sailed 
in his own junk along with 200 Ternatese warriors.

In addition, there are other reasons to suspect 
that the relationship between Francisco Serrão and 
Tristão de Meneses was not a friendly one. Th e arrival 
of Meneses in 1518 immediately produced some 
misunderstanding, as Sultan Bayan Sirrullah supposed 
that such a fl eet—the fi rst really Portuguese expedition 
to reach Northern Maluku—was assigned to construct 
a trading post and to build a fortress at Ternate, in 
accordance with his wishes and repeated requests. For 
that purpose, the Sultan immediately provided a strong 
wooden house to serve as a factory. Th at situation 
would not have pleased Serrão, who, at fi rst, refused 
to attend the meeting with the Sultan scheduled by 
Meneses, considering that the Portuguese King should 
have appointed him, Serrão, to construct the fortress, 
as the most well-informed and infl uential Portuguese 
knight in the region.

Th us, apart from the competition between the 
kings of Maluku for the construction of the future 
Portuguese fortress in their respective islands, Serrão 
was displeased at not being assigned such mission by the 
Portuguese Crown. Serrão also aspired to be appointed 
to the position of royal factor in Maluku, which factory 
did not actually exist, since, according to the testimony 
of Fernão Peres de Andrade in the ‘Maluku Process’, 
Sultan Bayan Sirrullah requested it to King Manuel.76 
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All kings and some other 
traditional leaders expected 
that the Portuguese would 
build forts on their lands, 
as they stated in letters that the 
fleet of Miranda de Azevedo 
brought to Melaka, along with 
letters from Francisco Serrão 
himself.

Moreover, Tristão de Meneses’ eff orts to meet either the 
demands from the Sultan of Ternate or those from the 
raja of Tidore,77 acted against the strategy implemented 
by Francisco Serrão. Th is one actively supported the 
Sultan and commanded a Ternatese punitive expedition 
against Tidore, resulting in the destruction of Soasio, 
the village that served as a capital to the raja, a fact 
that some contemporary observers considered to be the 
main reason for Serrão’s murder, while others claimed 
the raja of Bacan to be responsible for his death.78

A little reliable testimony from the offi  cers and 
pilot of the ship Trinidad mentions that Meneses was 
the instigator of the murder of Francisco Serrão, after 
he successively failed to send him to India. However, 
such a statement seems to be a mere attempt from the 
Spanish negotiators in the ‘Maluku Process’ to take 
advantage of the diff erences between Meneses and 
Serrão and to discredit him as an offi  cial representative 
of the Portuguese Crown in Maluku, suggesting that, 
from the outset, he had been a lançado that ‘runaway 
from Melaka in a junk of those which use to trade in 
Maluku.’79

Although supportive of the old Sultan of Ternate, 
Bayan Sirrullah, Serrão also tried, in his early years 
there, to conciliate him with Al Mansur, raja of Tidore, 
by promoting, in 1512 or 1513, the marriage of the 
sultan to a daughter of the raja.80 Th is peaceful interlude 
did not last, as Tomé Pires, writing in 1514, says that 
the war between both rulers was going on.81

THE DEATH OF SERRÃO

In 1520, or in the beginning of the next year, 
Sultan Bayan Sirrulah instructed Francisco Serrão to 
avenge the death of eight Portuguese who, having 
anchored in Bacan, had been massacred by the 
inhabitants.82 Serrão did not fulfi l this assignment,83 
due to his sudden death under quite unclear 
circumstances. According to some witnesses, he had 
been poisoned, along with the Sultan of Ternate, 
during a banquet off ered by Al Mansur, raja of Tidore. 
Other versions—including that contained in a letter 
written by Sultan Abu Hayat, the son and successor 
of Bayan Sirrullah, to the King of Portugal—involve 
in these deaths the King of Bacan, Ala ud-Din,84 a 70 
years old man, and his daughter, who was also widow 
of the deceased Sultan of Ternate. In his letter, Abu 
Hayat suggests that both his father and Francisco 

Serrão were poisoned on separate occasions and that 
Serrão died fi rst, four days after ingesting the poison 
that the raja of Tidore, Al Mansur, would have give 
him to drink at a banquet to which he was invited.85 
Pigafetta’s account makes clear that the murder of 
Serrão occurred by mid-March 1521.86

In the meantime, Francisco Serrão, deceived 
from being appointed governor (capitão) or factor of 
Maluku, expressed his wish to return to Melaka in 
his very last months of life. It is possible that, after a 
period of eight years in Maluku, Serrão intended to 
return to Melaka, India or even to Portugal, in order 
to be remunerated for services to the Crown.87 By 
preparing his departure, Serrão also obeyed an order 
from King Manuel received in 1519 from the hands 
of Tristão de Meneses.88

Th e infl uence exerted by the Portuguese and, 
in particular, by Francisco Serrão, in Maluku during 
the 1510s, was a very deep one. To some extent, it 
marked a new age to the region that brought changes 
not always clearly perceived in the Iberian sources. Th e 
Portuguese involvement in political events was, in the 
early days, not predominantly military, but based upon 
the diplomatic role played by Serrão as an advisor of 
the Sultan Bayan Sirrullah.

According to Paramita Abdurachman, this 
Sultan, by appointing a daughter of the raja of Tidore 
and his main wife, who received the title of niachile Boki 
Raja and whom he married by intercession of Serrão, to 
succeed him as an interim ruler or regent (rainha) after 
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his death and during the childhood of Abu Hayat, their 
son, and doing so through the use of a will, represented 
a novel political event, unprecedented in the history 
of Maluku, which violated a prerogative traditionally 
entrusted to the Council of Elders or Empat Perdana.89 
It is possible that Serrão, while planning for the 
‘Queen’, daughter of the King of Tidore, to succeed 
the old Sultan as regent of Ternate, had in view the 
commercial interest of the Portuguese in promoting 
peace and stability between both kingdoms. This 
policy also neglected other candidates well positioned 
to ascend the throne of Ternate and having no clear 
family connection to the King of Tidore. Moreover, 
his action was consistent with the policy he followed 
from his early days in Maluku, when he tried to forge 
a friendly agreement between the two main kingdoms, 
promoting the mentioned marriage of Bayan Sirrullah 
to that princess, daughter of Al Mansur, raja of Tidore.

FRANCISCO SERRÃO AND MAGELLAN

Not a single letter written by Serrão to King 
Manuel and to his friends in Melaka and in Portugal 
survived. Th ere are references to those letters, but all of 
them disappeared, as well as the whole correspondence 
he exchanged with Ferdinand Magellan, that António 
de Brito, the fi rst Portuguese governor in Maluku, on 
arriving at Ternate, found among the papers left by 
Serrão, as reported by Barros.90

According to several Spanish authors, Francisco 
Serrão would send to Magellan some notes, or 
Observaciones, concerning spices and the Ternate Island. 
Pigafetta, for instance, states that Magellan, while in 
Melaka, received Serrão’s letters from Maluku. Th is 
information, which the Spanish historians remembered, 
is not mentioned by any contemporary Portuguese 
source. Queiroz Velloso considered ‘inaccurate’ the 
information from Pigafetta, since a letter from Serrão 
would only arrive at Melaka ‘after the departure of 
Magellan to Portugal’, as already mentioned above. In 
fact, it seems very unlikely that Ferdinand Magellan 
had received letters from Serrão in Melaka. Th ese 
supposed letters could only be brought to him by his 
companions, Pero Fernandes and the pilot Gonçalo 
de Oliveira, who travelled in the same junk as the 
ambassador of the Sultan of Ternate who accompanied 
the nakoda Ismail in his return to Melaka, where all 
of them arrived in early 1513, as mentioned above, 

and which Armando Cortesão also confi rms. But in 
September of this year, Magellan would participate in 
the capture of Azamour, in Morocco. Th us, he returned 
to Portugal only in the possession of the information he 
collected in Melaka at the end of 1512, as A. Teodoro de 
Matos noticed. It is almost certain that Pero Fernandes 
embarked to Portugal with the letters of Serrão, and 
there undoubtedly he delivered them to Magellan, as 
stated by Gaspar de San Agustin.91

All in all, this information was not suffi  ciently 
accurate to suggest in the spirit of Magellan the idea of 
reaching Maluku through a Western pathway. Th is idea 
would emerge in the summer of 1514, when in Spain 
the ‘discovery’ of the Pacifi c Ocean by Vasco Nuñez de 
Balboa became known. Th is information, as the one on 
the ‘discovery’ of Maluku by Francisco Serrão, would 
probably arrived at the Spanish court ‘at the same time’, 
as Isabel Branquinho correctly noticed.92

Barros states that Serrão, in his letters, described 
Maluku as a larger and richer world than the one 
discovered by Vasco of Gama,93 while some Spanish 
authors argue that in the same letters Serrão had raised 
the suspicion about these islands, being located too 
far east from Melaka, would be located within the 
Spanish area traced, in 1494, at Tordesillas.94 However, 
it is not convincing that such letters compromised 
the Portuguese interests in Maluku, since the Spanish 
delegation to the Elvas-Badajoz summit did not exhibit 
any of them.

In short, after having settled in Maluku, Serrão 
probably sent letters to Ferdinand Magellan, as both 
travelled together aboard the same ship from Cochin 
to Melaka, in 1509, in the fl eet under Diogo Lopes 
de Sequeira, and that on separate occasions Magellan 
rescued Serrão twice from falling into the hands of the 
enemy, as noted above.95 It is also likely that Gonçalo 
de Oliveira, the pilot who sank with the Serrão in Nusa 
Pinju, served as a postman to one or more of those 
aforementioned letters. Oliveira was said to be a relative 
of Magellan and his teacher in cosmographic and 
nautical matters. As already mentioned, he remained in 
Ternate, near Serrão and under his command, at least 
until 1513, when the junk of nakoda Ismail sailed back 
to Melaka. According to the Relação do piloto genovês 
(‘Account of a Genoese Pilot’),96 it would not be Serrão’s 
letters, but the acquaintance with Oliveira, the major 
infl uence on his decision to seek Maluku by a Western 
route.97 Anyway, Serrão undoubtedly sent such letters, 
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NOTES

one of which was, according to Barros, a major cause 
of the interest that the discovering project provoked in 
the Emperor Charles V, to whom Magellan had shown 
it.98 Tormo Sanz goes even further saying that the 
knowledge about the Philippines allegedly evidenced 
by Magellan was learned in Serrão’s letters.99

Th ere is no evidence to accept, as some authors 
do, in the steps of Pigafetta, that Serrão was a relative 
or a ‘cousin’ of Magellan,100 nor to claim, in the wake of 
16th century Italian compiler Ramusio and 19th century 
Spanish historian Barros Araña, that Magellan has 
personally visited Maluku.101 Th e Visconde de Lagoa, 
in his biography of the celebrated Portuguese navigator, 
pointed to the lack of credible sources, either Portuguese 
or Spanish, which authorises such a proposition.102

Father Silva Rego believes that ‘Francisco Serrão’s 
death marks the end of the early contact between 

Portugal and Moluccas.’103 Th is event, which must 
have occurred in March or April 1521, preceded by 
a few months the arrival of the Magellan-Delcano 
Spanish fl eet to Tidore,104 a much more decisive event 
in the history of the Iberian presence in the region, 
also marked by the following Portuguese initiatives: 
the building of the fortress of St. John the Baptist, in 
Ternate; and the consolidation of the alliance with 
the local Sultanate, in order to ensure access to the 
sources of Indonesian spices and to preserve political 
and military infl uence against Asian and European 
competitors, specially the Spaniards.

When the Magellan-Delcano expedition arrived 
at Maluku, the Spaniards found one single Portuguese 
man established there, named Lourosa,105 and 
several mestizo children, said to be Francisco Serrão’s 
off spring.106 
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